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LITTLE CHESTER, DERBY:
THE 1926 EXCAVATIONS

By M. BnlssrNcroN
(34 Chestnut Avenue, Mickleover, Derby DE3 5FI)

INTRODUCTION
Thelargestarchaeologicalexcavationevertotakeplace atLittle Chesteroccurredduringthelate
sunrmer and autumn of 1926 (Knight, 1927); its results werr, however, never published. The
following repre sents an attempt to prevent the disappearance from memory of an enterprise, the
object of which was to generate an interest in local history and further the study of Roman
Britain. The project was beset with problems. Even by the standards of the day, the methods of
excavation used were primitive, since the workforce consisted of nawies who were mystified
by the whole procedure, andresentful of adivisive manoeuvre concerningpay. However, many
interesting and significant discoveries were made; and this more detailed account of the 1926
excavations complementsotherrccentpublications (e.g. Brassington, 1981; Birss andWheeler,
1985: fig. 2). (Italicised text indicates, where appropriate, the current state ofresearch.)

TI{EEXCAVATIONS
The excavation was mainly at the instigation of Charles Bakewell Sherwin, a senior assistant to

Plate I Little Chester, 1926: Charles Bakewell Sherwin (1878-1950).
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the Borough Surveyor (Plate 1). It was Sherwin who had recognised that the foundation of the

building found on the Derby School playing-field in 1924 was of Roman construction
(Brassington, 1982). He quickly realised that further discoveries of a similar nature would
probably be made when the public works planned to take place in the vicinity of Little Chester
commenced.

These discoveries apparently began when a valve was inserted in the water main at the
junctionof RectoryLaneandMoorRoadin Breadsall village. The followingextractwasprinted
in the Derbyshire Advertiser of 28 August 1926:

THE EXCAVATI()NS AT
LITTLE CHESTER 1926.
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Fig. I Little Chester, 1926: Ryknield Street (Sherwin's plan).
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The Derby Borough Surveyor (Mr. C. A. Clews) has recently fixed a large automatic water valve
at Breadsall, just below the church, on the greensward in the centre of three roads. In excavating for
this valve he came across the remains of what is undoubtedly a Roman road, being a continuation
of Rykneld St., which runs immediately to the north-west of the church. The road is composed of
about two feet oflarge quartzite boulders, lying directly upon the natural clay, and on top ofthese
boulders a layer of gristone, about nine inches thick, covered in ordinary gravel.

On25 July 1967,someforry-oneyears dter itwas tnstalled,thevalvewas removed; this enabled
the strata to be re-exarnined. The earlier identiftcation of these layers as a Roman road was

found to be not entirely convincing. However, wlntever its origins, the site must be very close
to Ryknield Street. On the basis of this discovery, Sherwin assumed that the Roman road ran
down to the comer of Breadsall Wood, close to the junction of Croft Lane and Alfreton Road,
and from that point took a straight line directly to the Roman fort at Little Chester (cf.
Brassington, 1981: fig. 3).

Ryknield Stneet was indeed encountered again to the north of Little Chester by council
workmen who were levelling 48 acres of farmland to create a recreation ground. Sherwin and
others urged that the opportunity to make more discoveries should not be missed. A scheme was
devised that would achieve this object and at the same time alleviate unemployment. To forestall
criticism that the scheme would be an unnecessary expense in a time of economic depression it
was pointed out that money being paid, without return, to the unemployed could be used as wages
for those same men if they were employed on the excavations; no cost would fall on the town
and a great amount of knowledge could be gained. The work was to be carried out under the
direction of the Borough Surveyor, and Sherwin was appointed to supervise the work in the field.

At the point where Ryknield Sueet was discovered in the playing-fields, Sherwin cut a three
foot wide trench across it (Fig. l). He described its construction in an afticle published in the
Derby Mercury of 3 September 1926:

The road was faced with a bed of gravel some 12 inches deep on a thick bed of hand pitching
consisting of large boulders of gritstone which must have been brought from the Little Eaton district.
Beneath the pitching was another layer of hard gravel mostly of cement which causes it to set
somel.hing like brown coloured chocolate. (Fig. 2)

Sherwin set his workmen the task of clearing the road of the overlying soil and tracing its course
towards Little Chester. The road was eventually totally cleared for a distance of a quarter of a
mile (Fig. 1, Plate 2; cf. Birss andWheeler, 1985: figs 1,2). Its width variedfrom twenty to thirty
feet, and it appeared to be leading to the north gate of the fort. However, a bend was encountered
and the alignment beyond this point suggested that it enter€d the fort by the east gate (the porta
principalis dexffa). The excavation was terminated about twenty feet from some old cottages
near to the nofth-east corner of the fort (Frg. I ). These cottages have since been demolished and
it is now known that the road does not enter thefort but turns in a southerly direction to run
parallel to the defences.This section of the road now lies in an eastern extension to the nursery
garden.
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Fig.Z Little Chester, 1926: Ryknield Street, section.



24 DERBYSHIRE ARCTIAEOLOGICAL JOURNAL

Plate 2. Little Chester, 1926: Ryknield Street, general view of the excavations.

The visit of R. G. Collingwood
R. G. Collingwood, at that time a leading authority on Roman Britain, made a visit to Little
Chester and viewed the excavations. He examined the site in detail, including the Roman well
situatedin the frontgarden of the vicarage.Thiswellhadbeenfoundby the Rev.samuelBrasher
in 1874 , and remained open until frlled in by the Rev. W. N . Hull soon after he moved into the
newvicarage in 1963.Itwas re-opened inApril 1981for well-dressing purposes.It is not to be
confused with the well which was discovered in 1929 in the former vicarage vegetable garden
( cf . Brassington, 1969 ).

Collingwood also inspected the dressed stones incorporated infarm walls. He thought that
many of thesewere re-usedRoman stones,andconsideredthatthey may have derivedfromlarge
and handsome buildings in the area. Many of these stones were removed when Manor House
Farm was demolished in 1964, but others remainforming a retaining walt at the northern
boundary of the hardtennis courts.Recentexcavations atthe site have confirmedCollingwood' s
hypothesis. Collingwood found the pottery to be of great interest for there were two types he had
notencountered before (Collingwood andTaylor, 1926). The firsthada hardpimply fabric (now
known as Derbyshire ware) which he correctly assumed to be a local product. The second was
calcite wareof a soapytexture,which butforits associationhe wouldhaveconfidentlydescribed
as pre-Roman.
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The culvert
At the same time as they located Ryknield Street, the council workmen also discovered a large
stone culvert some ninety feet long, running parallel to the river @igs 3, 5; Plate 3). It now lies
buried afew feet to the west of the path leading across the Park, adjacent to the east boundary
of the tennis courts.ltcomprisedtwolines ofroughly workedgritstone blocks, twocourses deep

and some two feet apart, bridged over with slabs three feet long, one and a half feet wide and six
inches thick, some showing signs of re-use. At the northern end was a massive stone-built sump,
set twenty degrees askew to the culvert, and roofed over by two large gritstone slabs lying
side-by-side, each over seven feet long and ten inches thick with a total width (for the two) of
six feet. The fall of the culvert was southwards, where it emptied into a defensive ditch
surroundingthe fort. Collingwood was greatly puzzledby this culvert, as he knew of anynumber
of Roman culverts similar in construction, but not one that drained into a defensive ditch; for it
was not the practice of the Romans to fill these ditches with water.

In December 1926 a trench was dug on the site of the fort wall to the south of the culvert (Fig.
5). The rough stonework of the wall-core was discovered at a depth ofthree feet, and its northern
edge was found to be 21' 6" from the southern end of the culvert.
The south wall of the fort
Trenches were dug in the north-east corner of the Derby School playing field, immediately to
the south of 102 City Road, on a site adjacent to the assumed position of the south gate (the porta
praetoria; cf. Birss and Wheeler, 1985: frg.2). No stonework of the defensive wall remained,
presumably the result of stone-robbing in the eighteenth century. At the suggestion of

Plate 4 Little Chester, 1926: site of the south wall of the fort, looking west.
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Collingwood, another ffench was dug at right angles to the site of the wall to ascertain the

position of the defensive ditch. No plans of this excavation survive, if indeed any were ever
made; the only existing record is a single photograph and that a general view taken from City
Road (Plate 4). A coin of Trajan was found in the area (Knight, 1927).

The visit of Donald Atkinson
Donald Atkinson visited the site on Saturday, 13 September 1926. He was then Reader in
Ancient History at the University of Manchester, and the superintendent of excavations at

Wroxeter. The following is a letter, dated 16 September 1926, addressed to Clews, which was

published in the Derby Da ily Telegraph of 2 I September 1926, and in which Atkinson refers to
the 'hypocaust' building discovered in 1924 on the Derby School playing-field (Brassington,

19821' cf . Birss and Wheeler, 1985: fig. 1):

It seems to me most desirable that the Hypocaust building should be further examined. Its
positionrelative to the enclosure (i.e. the fort: MB) suggests that if this is military - as its plan and

dimensionsrathersuggest-thatitmay atsometimehavebeenthebathswhichform ausual adjunct
to the forts both in Britain and Abroad. If this were the case it would be a matter of great interest to
ascertain its plan and the pcriod during which it was occupied.

There is however another possibility. At other sites on main Roman roads, such as at Mancetta

[sic] on the Watling Street [and] Margidumun [sic] near Newark on the Foss Way are similar
rectangularenclosures.In thecase ofMancettaitsposition in thecountry makeitvery probable what
has actually been proved by excavation at Margidumun - namely, that these places were military
posts during the early years of the Roman occupation and later became small civil settlements

connected no doubt with the Government Posting system. It would be well worth while trying to find
evidence pointing in the same direction in the case ofthe Derby site. The first operation for such a
purpose wouldnaturally be asectionoraseriesofsections across theditch ifsuchreally existsround
the enclosure. Its profile alone might provide a valuable clue and dateable material might quite well
be found in it - as has been the case at Margidumun and numerous forts in the North of England.

In any case it would be a definite and valuable addition to our knowledge of Roman Britain if
the period and nature ofthe occupation ofthe enclosure could be found out- it would largely alter
common conceptions of the completeness of the conquest if a military force continued to garrison
the place till the end of the second century A.D.

It seems to me clear that investigations of the enclosure or of the hypocaust building which must
have a close connection with it should with good fortune lead to results ofconsidcrable interest.

The section of the road north of lhe enclosure seems to me unusually interesting and well
preserved, and if at any rate awell preserved pieceof itcould be leftexposed it wouldbeveryuseful.
Such things are not easily accessible as [sic: MB] the site of a good specimen such as this would be
mosthelpful to anyone whoproposed to investigateRomanRoads inotherpartsof thecountry.The
indications of occupation on both sides of the road should also certainly be followed up if possible.

The shallowness of the surface soil makes that comparatively easy and as considerable buildings
are unlikely outside the enclosure on the north the shallowness has not the disadvantages here which
sometimeattach toit. Whatthecharacterof theoccupation wasseemstome stilluncertainbutfurther
work should solve the problem, and if as the position suggests a part of the site was occupied by a

cemetery the historical value of the discoveries which would follow its uncovering might be very
considerable throwing light on the history of the site itself, and by providing associated finds
increasing our equipment for dealing with historical problems in other places.

You will forgive this effusion of an enthusiast who is perhaps inclined to over emphasise the

importance of the studies in which he is interested, but if these studies have a value there is a fair
chance of their being furthered by investigations such as you have begun to make and I very much
hope you will find it possible to continue lhem.

I need not say that ifI can give you any help at any time I shall only be very glad to do so.
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Civilian occupation
Following Atkinson's suggestion that the traces of occupation alongside the road should be
further examined, Sherwin cut a series of trenches, forty-two in number, on either side and at
right angles to the excavated portion of Ryknield Street (Fig. l; Plate 2). Note that there is no
Trench 2I . The remains of buildings were found but, according to Sherwin, they proved to be
of the 'humble kind and devoid of architectural features'. Only brief descriptions of the finds
from the first twenty of these exploratory trenches were enter€d in his notebook, and these are
unsatisfactory, for only two or three of the items can now be identified with certainty. The
following is an expanded transcription of these notes:

Section 1: Near to the first trench (section) opened out, where portions of three vases
were found. A complete vase found under a stone. What appears to be a
baker's hearttr with very red earth and charcoal. Two coins.

Sections 2-4: Pottery only.
Section 5: A large stone slab44" x32" x5" foundat adepth of about 12" below ground

level and set at right-angles to the road.
Section 6: Pottery only.
SectionT: A decorated samian bowl @r. 37) three-quarters complete @ig. 6:13).

Portions of two vases, half complete. A coin and a brooch found, also the
neck and handle of a 'red bottle' (Oxfordshire ware jug?: MB). Stone sill
as Section 18.

Section 8: Pottery andabrooch.
Section 9: An iron spear head, a coin and some pottery.
Sections 10-12: Pottery only.
Section 13: Skull; large stones mingled with pottery.
Section 14: A brooch, a coin, some pottery and two millstones, each2l" in diameter.
Section 15: Pottery only.
Section 16: A red pot practically complete and three parts of a black pot. Three coins.
Section 17: Pottery only.
section 18: Paved area with stone sills (Fig. 4, Plate 5). Three coins, a brooch, pottery

and links of chain.
Section 19: Mortarium with porrer's mark (G. ATIrvs MARINVS): AD 100-130.

Two millstones 18" and 19" in diameter, a fragment of another 36', in
diameter. Small pot containing a coin. Two coins.

Section 20: Pottery only.

The 'baker's shop'
At Section 18 a paved floor was encountered and an area around it cleared, revealing the
foundation of a building (Plate 5). Sherwin's dimensioned sketch and a surviving photograph
have enabled the plan of this building to be recovered (Fig. 4). The rebates cut in the stone sills
(section A-A) are no doubt the seating for wooden shutters and indicate that the building was
probably a shop which opened onto the street. Rejected quern stones found in the vicinity, and
also used as paving for the floor, obviously suggest milling activity and that the likely function
of the building was that of a baker's shop selling grain, flour and bread.
Trenchmaterial
The material recovered from thirty-five ofthe trenches was placed in separate bags, each labelled
with the appropriate trench number. A further eight trenches, however, remained. unnumbered,
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and the material from these was mixed together in a single bag. The whole of the material, from
allforty-twotrenches, wasdepositedin theDerbyMuseum. Later, whenthematerialwas softed,
only the most 'interesting' pieces were retained and placed on display. No trench number was
recorded on any sherd.

Coins
Coins were treated differently, and the workmen were instructed to place any found in a jar of
weak acid (vinegar?: MB). Evidently not all of them did so: many coins and artefacts must have
beenexchangedinpublicbarsforthepriceofadrink. Inl95l,MrLakin,apublican,whoatthe
time of the excavations kept the Pelican Inn, Abbey Street, donated to the Derby Museum a
complete Derbyshire ware jar. He had redeemed itforfifry shillings after one of his customers,
a labourer working on the site, had pawned it for beer money. A coin of Victorinus (AD 269-
7I ), said to have beenfound in this jar, was handed in some three years later.

On 17 November 1926, Sherwin passed forty-nine coins to the Rev. A. Clifton Knight,
headmaster of Derby School, who published them, amongst others, in this journal (Knight,
1927).'the coins found along Ryknield Street and in the immediate vicinity of the Little Chester
fort appear to have run from the reign of Domitian (AD 8 I -96) to that of Gratian (AD 367- 83).
The principia
Within the fort Sherwin had two long trenches dug (Fig. 5). The one to rhe east lan parallel to
and six feet to the west of the eastern boundary of the present car park; it is now represented by
arowofironstanchions (Brassington, 1967:4l,frg.2). Ituncoveredanumberofstonefootings

Plate 5 Little Chester, 1926: Ryknield Street, Section 18, foundations ofthe'baker's shop'
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Fig. 4 Little Chester, 1926: Section I 8,'baker's shop', plan.

which, from Sherwin's notes,can beinterpretedas follows. A threefootthickwall nearestto and
parallel with Old Chester Road (Fig. 5:l) could represent the outer wall of the headquarten
building (the principia), and the gravel to the north of it the metalling of the courtyard. If this
is so, the next three foot thick wall (Fig. 5:2) could be that of the cross-hall. Further north, the
ten foot wide masonry (Fig. 5:3) was probably the remains of the tribunal, the dais in the
cross-hall from which the commanding officer addressed the assembled troops. At this point
Sherwin's trench turned north-north-west under what are now tennis courts; the next wall
encountered probably formed the rear wallof the principia (Fig.5:4). Beyond this building were
twoareasofgravel,presumablythemetallingofroads (theviaquintanaandtheviadecumana),
across which the trench cut obliquely.

Roai
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The post-Roman cemetery
Sherwin's second trench commenced on the site of the north wall, immediately south of the
culvert. It was 3' 6" wide and ran in a south-westerly direction diagonally across what was until
recently a tree nursery, towards Derwent House. A note in this journal (Clews, 1927) gives the
information that:

five human skeletons were discovered. They lay about 2 ft 6 ins below the present surface of the
ground inside the camp and close to the west wall. All showed signs of regular burial and all were
placed with the feet to the east . . .

Clews hadwrittento CollingwoodandAtkinsonregardingthe skeletons foundin thenorth-west
quarter of the fort. They both suggested that the bones be sent to Sir Arthur Keith of the Royal
College of Surgeons. This was arranged, and on 28 September 1927 Keith replied to Clews,
identifying the remains as those of '3 men, L woman and a child of 6 years', and stating that he
was 'convinced these people were buried at a post-Roman date - sometime between the 5th
cent. A.D. and 13th century'.

From Sherwin's notes andphotographs it is evidentthat six skeletons wereuncovered, closer
to the northern wall than the western. They had not been buried in coffins. A man, a crippled
woman and a child some six years old had been buried side-by-side in close proximity to a stone
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footing (Fig. 5:c). Only the lower half of the child remained, and t'wo feet to the north lay the
upper portion of a fourth skeleton (Fig. 5:a). Twenty-eight feet to the norttr-east, also close to
a stone footing, lay two adult males interred side-by-side (Fig. 5:b). The bodies had been laid
directly in the earth, the arms of the adults folded across their chests. No grave goods were found
which, together with the orientation, suggest Christian burial, certainly post-Roman and
probably medieval.

Theinterment of afarnily groupmay suggestthe deadwerevictims of anepidemic.Ahhough
thereis no docurnentary or archaeological evidencethat a churchwas ever establishedatLittle
Chester,anextensive cemetery certainly existedinthis north-westqwffterof thefort.Therewere
at one time sevenprebendalfarms within the township of Little Chester and this ecclesiastical
connection may have been sufficient for burials to be made there during a visitation of the
plague. Hwnan bones have beenfound in this area since the eighteenth century. In the 1950s
when the stables, which were being utilised as clanging rooms, were re-floored, burials were
encountered, and tn December 1969 otlurs were unearthed durtng tree planting. In 1982-3 a
community centre was built on part of this site.

As noted above, Sherwin partly uncovered the stone foundation of a Rornan building
orientated east-west (Fig. 5:c), and this was encountered again during thc winter of 1979-80
when a series of trenches were cut meclwnically to factlhate the planting of trees.

The termination of the excavations
Sherwin apparently ceased digging in December 1926. However, it was on 19 April 1927 that
the labourerpawnedthe Roman jarredeemedby Mrlakin, which suggests thatexcavations may
have recommencedearly in the following year. This new work was certainly on a muchreduced
scale, and must soon have given way to back-filling. Nothing further was recorded by Sherwin,
whose enthusiasm had waned, possibly because everything that he did or wrote was accredited
to Clews. This was probably also the reason why no report was produced. Sherwin kept the site
plans in his possession for some years, before passing them on to Mr J. W. Allen, who placed
them in the care of the Local History Library (BA 913.12719).

Justbeforeheretired,Clewsproducedhisbooklet, NotesonDerby(1929),inwhichhemade
a brief reference to the Little Chester excavations:

Outside the fort to the north, on each side of the Ryknield St., was erected a fairly large settlement,
the foundations of the various buildings being of stone. Avery curious thing was that this splendidly
constructed road, where it ran through the settlement, had been abandoned by subsequent
inhabitants and a new road constructed only a few hundred yards away. Fear of ghosts is held to
account for this.

This 'new road' can only be the Saxon predecessor of Alfreton Road. Clews could not
understand why a well-constructed Roman road was discarded for what would have been little
more than a trackway. He mentioned this fact to Sir Arthur Keith in a letter dated 27 September
1927, giving the information that:

Mr. Collingwood's and Mr. Atkinson's explanation of this latter fact, is that the Saxons were so
afraid of the ghosts of the Romans, that they kept clear of anything belonging to them, whether they
were roads or buildings.

The south wall, the culvert and most of the road were covered over. A man who worked on
the excavations remembers that a section of the road was left open as Atkinson had suggested,
butthis toowas eventually reburied. Within a decade the whole episode was virtually forgotten.
W. H. Hanbury referred to it and published two photographs in his 'Short history of Derby' (his
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contribution to the booklet EducationWeek,Derby 1937). R. W. P. Cockerton, when writing a

series of articles onthe'Roman streets of Derbyshire'forthe magazine DerbyshireCountryside,

completely overlookedit. Sherwin remindedhimof itand supplied a sketchplan which appeared

in the July 1939 edition. Apart from these two publications nothing further was reported.

T}IEFINDS
The artefacts from the 1926 excavations wer€ deposited in the Derby Museum on 10 January

1927, 1rrd given the accession number 1927-39. Some of these finds are now missing. A
comparison of the surviving material with a photogfaph of the finds from the excavation reveals

thatatleastfourbrooches havebeen mislaid, orhave disintegrated. To makematters worse, other

material found later or from other sites has been added to the Little Chester 1926 collection, and

given the number 33'27 - 
a number also assigned to some of the artefacts found in 1926.

Samian ware (Figs 6,7).
(Nos 1, 15 and 23 are not from the 1926 excavations, but are included here because they derive

from the Little Chester area.)

1. Form 29 SouthGaulish,c.AD60-75.(HandedintotheMuseumbyT.W.Motram
on 28 June 1926, and presumably found in his garden, at 75 Old Chester

Road).
2. Form37 South Gaulish, c. AD 70-90; grape picker 0.597, Victory O.808B.

3. Form 29 South Gaulish, c. AD 75-85; wolf with Romulus and Remus 0.849.
4. Form 37 Cenral Gaulish, c. AD 120-135; style of the 'D' potter (cf. No. 15).

5. Form 37 CentralGaulish,c.AD 120-150;leafusedbyQuintilianusandlaxtucissa,
Stanfield and Simpson, 1958: fig.28. Rare figure of little lizard.

6. Form 37 Central Gaulish, c. AD l2O-140; detail of Geminus, Stanfield and

Simpson, 1958: fig. 15:8.

7. Form 37 Central Gaulish; leaf similar to that of Paternus, Stanfield and Simpson,

1958: fig.30:22.
8. Form 37 South Gaulish, c. AD 80-100; grape picker 0.597.
9. Form 37 Central Gaulish, c. AD 140-180; style of Pugnus. Eagle 0.2169, Stanfield

and Simpson, 1958: pl. 155, no. 20.

10. Form 37 CenualGaulish, c. AD 145-l7O; styleof Cinnamus. RunningmanO.2O4.
11. Form 37 Central Gaulish fragment; caryatid 0.1207.
12. Form37 CentralGaulish,c.AD140-170;styleofAlbucius.StanfieldandSimpson,

1958: pl. l2l:lJ',13.
13. Form 37 Three quarters of a Central Gaulish bowl from Section 7, adjacent to

Ryknield Street. In the style of Cinnamus; c. AD 145-l7O.In the medal-

lion: panther O.1573D and nude man 0.688. Caryatid 0.278, draped man

0.905 and Venus 0.278.
14. Form 37 Cenral Gaulish; free style bowl.
15. Form 37 Cenual Gaulish, c, AD l2O-135; style of the 'D' potter, Stanfield and

Simpson, 1958: p1.30:364. (DM.557-15; found at Little Chester in 1895;

cf. No.4)
16. Form 37 Central Gaulish fragment, Antonine; Apollo O.83.

17. Form37 Central Gaulish, Antonine; putti 0.461.
18. Form 37 Central Gaulish, Antonine; similar to the style of Mercator II.
19. Form 37 Cenral Gaulish fragment, Antonine.
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Fig. 7 Little Chester, 1926: samian ware (Nos 15-26). Scale 1:2

21. Form 37

22. Form37
23. Form37

Central Gaulish, c. AD I 60- 1 80; style of Casurius. Stanfield and Simpson,
1958: pl. 135:35; details fig. 40:6,9.
Central Gaulish fragment; Apollo O.93.
East Gaulish, Rheinzabern, late second century.
Style of Biragillus (Knorr, 1919: Taf. 16, detail l3). All four details used

by Passenus (Knorr, 1919:.T af . 62, details 12 and,29 for the leaves). (Found



36 DERBYSHIRE ARCHAEOLOGICAL JOURNAL

at Little Chester in 1941.)
24. Form 18/31 Dish.
25. Mid-Antonine dish (cf. Curle, 1911: l5).
26. Fragment of a black-coated jar made at Lezoux, with appliqu6 mask of

Silenus. A version of Ddchelette's appliqu6 type 109.
Not illustrated

Three samian bases of form 18/31 that appear on a photograph of finds
recovered in 1926. One has a complete potter's stamp which unfortunately
cannot be read. The others are half bases with broken stamps. These read
COM... (possibly Comprinnus) and VEST...

Coarse ware (Figs 8, 9)
The coarse ware that was excavated by Sherwin ranged in date from the late first to the fourth
century. Owing to the haphazard methods used during the excavation and later by the museum,
all that now remains of the great mass of material recovered must be regarded as unstratified.
Littlepurpose wouldnow be servedbyillustrating morc thanafewpieces. Derbyshireware was

A

Fig. 8 Little Chester, 1926: modelled flagon spout (A). Scale l:2
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Fig. 9 Little Chester, 1926: coarse ware. Scales various, as indicated
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found in quantity, also jars and bowls of the second century. The colour-coated wares of the third
and fourth centuries indicate that the occupation ofthe civil settlement continued to a late date

in the Roman period.
A. Modelled flagon spout, in a discoloured coarse grey fabric, depicting the head of a

woman wearing an elaborate 'serpent' headdress. Neither Sherwin nor Hanbury
mentions this piece in their notes. Possibly it was already in the museum collection and
was not found during the excavations. (Llewellynn Jewitt's 1852 description of the

exhibits in t}le Town and Country Museum (later the Derby Museum) noted 'a finely
formed female head with a head covering of peculiar form'.) If the head represents a
goddess the vessel may have been used for ritual purposes.

B. Oxfordshire ware jug with coral coloured slip. Possibly t}re 'red' bottle from Section

7. Fourth century.
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C.'Hunt cup'. Brown colour-coated beaker with a cornice rim and barbotine stag and hare
decoration, c. AD l2O-200.

D. Double-handled jar with lid-seating rim. Soft cream fabric with a pink core. Second
century.

E. Mortarium, 1 3 " (33 cms) in diameter, carrying the stamp of the potterG. Attius Marinus
(retrograde). Found in Section 19. Dated to the potter's period of production in the
midlands, c. AD 100- 1 30 (see Hartley, 197 2: 37 3; and Wheeler, 1985a: fig. 48: 1).

Bronze objects (Figs 10, 11)

Of the bronze objects illustrated here, Nos 12-14 are earlier finds from Little Chester, included
for the sake of completeness. The remainder are all from the l926excavation, with the
possible exceptions ofNos 4, 6, 8, 10 and 15, which do not appear on a photograph of
the finds taken in 1926. Precisely where on the site any of these objects was found is
now unknown.

1. 'Dolphin' type brooch, badly pitted by corrosion, c. AD 100-150. The ends of the
semi-cylindrical side wings are pierced to accommodate a spindle.

2. Disc brooch with araised central boss and six plain lugs round the rim. Second century.
A similar, but smaller brooch has also been found at Little Chester. Four others have
also been found in North Derbyshire, three from Deepdale and one from Poole's
Cavem. See Cox, l89l:197 (cf. Jackson and Ambrose, 1978: fig. 57:6), and Bramwell
et al.,1983: frg.4:9.

3.'Head-stud'typebrooch.Thebowhasalatticedpanel,thelozenge-shapeddepressions
of which contain a dark blue enamel. The triangular depressions originally held red
enamel. The circularsockets atthe headandfootaremountings forstuds which are now
missing. A coiled spring was not utilised; latching was effected when the pin was
sprung under tension into the catchplate recess.

4. Ring suspension, presumably one of two from a bronze vessel, possibly an oil jar. The
innerprofileof the attachment suggests aneckdiameterof some 2" (5 cms). (Cf. British
Museum, 1908: fig.98.)

5. A small length of chain from Section 18. Drawn from a photograph.
6. Button and loop fastener with cast decorarion; cf. Wild, 1970: fig. 2:VIa-c.
7. Domed stud (now missing). Drawn from a photograph.
8. Folding spoon with a lyre-shaped bowl and cranked hinge mounting. Sherlock (1976:

frg.2)typeB4. Themissing handle wouldhavebeenin the shape of the elongatedbody
of a lion or leopard, with the front legs extended forwards, the paws forming the
trunions for the cranked hinge. At the rear of the handle there would have been two
hinged attachments, one for a knife blade, which folded under the handle like a modem
pocket knife, the otherpresumably for a spike (since the handles on non-folding spoons
usually tapered to a point) which in this case folded alongside the blade. These
multi-purpose spoons were possibly designed for the convenience of travellers. They
are not common; two more-complete examples have been found in third or fourth
century contexts at Traprain Law @ast Lothian) and Hockwold-cum-Wilton (Nor-
folk).

9. Spoon-spatula, broken at one end. Used for mixing and spreading pigments.
10. Terretringofbronze,slightlysmallerthanisusual.Theprojectingdecorativestudsare

of bronze and the type is a copy of an earlier Celtic form where these studs were filled
with enamel. Cf. Robertson,1964: pl. 12; Curle, 1911: pl. lxxv:2; Hawkes and Hull,
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Fig. l0 Little Chester, 1926l. bronze small finds (Nos 1-9). Scale l:1
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Fig. l l Little Chester, 1926: bronze small finds (Nos 10-17); bone ring (No. 18). Scale I :l

1947: pl. xcix:3 
- an earlier type with enamel; and Birley, 1920: fig. 1:8.

11. Trumpet type brooch. The spindle survives but the pin is missing. Only the lower
portion of the cast headJoop remains. This brooch is grouped with the material
excavated in 1926-7 but the number 18- 1929 painted in white on the catch plate is not
a Derby Museum accession number and the brooch may not be from Little Chester.

Nos 12- 14 are redrawn from the mid-nineteenth century manuscript notes by Llewellynn Jewitt,
which are lodged in the Derby Local History Library.

12. Strap-end.Cf.Simpson,1909:fig.16:9;asimilarfittingwasfoundingrave220onthe
Derby racecourse: Wheeler, 1985b: frgs 120, 12l:6.

13. Needle (a). For comparison also included is a bronze needle (b) found in 1965
(Brassington, 1967 : fig. 1 I :4).

14. Fastener, 'duffle-coat button'. Similar fasteners have been found at Corbridge.
15. Lunatependantwithphallicterminalandastudforfasteningontotheendofaleather

strap. There is a similar pendant from Caistor-by-Norwich in the Norwich Museum
(accession number 8.7 5.152, 929).

A
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Fig. 12 Little Chester, 1926: non-metallic artefacts (Nos 19-22). Scale l:l

16. A bronze mounr with a punched hole in the middle for fastening to wood. Probably a

fastener or band from a box or piece of furniture, with the edge tumed over on the edge

of the object.
17. Leadweight, 0.5" (12 mm) square section, 0.67" (17 mm) long, 25.4 gms.

Non-metallic objects (Figs 11, l2).
18. Bone ring,0.95" (24 mm) outside diameter.

19. Bone pin with a broken tip. Not illustrated was the shank of a secondpin,2.25" (58 mm)

long.
20-22. Bone lathe-turned gaming counters. No. 20 has an 'X' scratched on the back and No.

22 is highly polished.
23. A lathe-turned disc, brown in colour, with a smooth surface. One of four. The material,

which has not been identifred, resembles bakelite and may be a natural resin. It has a

density of 1.195 g/cc and is not jet or Kimmeridge shale.

Glass (Fig. 13)

24. Green glass perfume bottle, square in section.

25. Moulded broad-ribbed beaker rim. Poor quality greenish glass.

24

25

Fig. 13 Little Chester, 1926: glass (Nos 24'25). Scale l:1

Iron objects (Fig. 1a).

26. Badly corroded dagger blade. The remains of a tang indicate that it is a dagger and not

a spearhead. A possibleprofile is shown on the drawing, whichifcorrectwould suggest

the blade of a pugio.
27. Spear-head, 5" (13 cms) long with a hollow shank which has a nail through it. No

21
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Fig. 14 Liule Chesrer, 1926: iron (Nos 26-29). Scale t i

attempt had been made to sharpen the point and therefore it is unlikely to have been
intended for hand-to-hand fighting. It would, however, have been a suitable military
projectile.

28. Anironcollar,4to4.5" (10-I1.5cms)indiameter.FoundonthesurfaceofRyknield
Street in 1926. The 0.125" (3.2mm)thickwall varies in width from 0.75 to 2.0';119-51
mm). These iron bands are usually described as water pipe collars used to join two
lengths of wooden pipe together. A nail, to retain the collar in place, is still i'n sjru.

29. An L-shaped lift-key with a broken stem. A common type.
Not illustrated

A builder's T-staple. This is now missing, but appears on a photograph of items found
in 1926. The stemwas7.25" (r8.4cms)long, andthecross-piece3" f.6cms)inwidth.
similar to Manning, 1976: frg.25:161. A form commonly found on many sites.
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Fig. 15 Little Chester, 1926: Gr8ek votive relief.

Greek votive relief (Fig. 15).

The bottom right-hand corner of a white marble slab, which was believed to have been found

at Little Chester, was enteredin the Derby Museum stock book in April 1915. This was when

thecollection was firstcataloguedandthepiece was given the accession numberDM 614-1915.

It was entered again in the stock book in October 1926 and given the accession number DM
27-t926.

The marble slab, 15.3" x 9.8" (39 cms x 25 cms), depicts two female figures carved in relief,
both badly eroded. The principal figure has her head covered and a hand raised in a gesture of
adoration. A slave girl stands behind her carrying votive offerings. They presumably stand

before a deity that would have been depicted on the missing left-hand portion of the slab. The

carving has been identified as a Greek votive relief of the fourth century B.C., and similar to

many found in Attica. [t is extremely unlikely that it was found at Little Chester. Presumably it
was a family curio, imported into this country in the eighteenth or nineteenth century, possibly

as a trophy from a grand tour, and then donated to the museum. Its provenance was subsequently

forgotten, and it was assumed to have been of local Romano-British origin.

SUBSEQUENT ACTMY
The visit of J. P. Gillam
John P. Gillam, who later became a well-known specialist on Roman coarse pottery, visited

Little Chester just before the outbreak of the Second World War when writing a thesis on the

distribution of Derbyshire ware (Gillam, 1940). He found in the cricket pavilion three tea chests

full of Romano-British pottery; from these chests he picked out several examples of the pimply
ware, which he described as similar in texture topetrified goose flesh. Like Collingwood, he

came to the conclusion that it was made in South Derbyshire and suggested that it be named after

the county. He also noted that most of the first century coins had been found at Strutts Park on

the westem side of the Derwent opposite Little Chester and was the first to suggest that Roman

occupation commenced in that area.

The war years
The only excavations to take place at Little Chester during the war years had nothing to do with
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archaeology. Posts were set in the ground and old cars placed about the Darley playing fields,
and a series of deep trenches were dug, east to west, to prevent enemy aircraft landing. Rytnieta
Street was cut through in several places, but only one piece of samian pottery was handed in to
the museum during this period @ig.7:23).
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